

Mastering Chirality: Unlocking Bioactive Natural Products with **Oxazaborolidines and Oxazaborolidinones**

Yogesh Kumar Walia^{a*}, Souvik Sarkar^b, Soma Das Pradhan^c, and Prasun Kanti Pradhan^{b*}

^aDepartment of chemistry, School of Basic and Applied Sciences, Career Point University Hamirpur, HimachalPradesh, 176041 India.

^bTCG Lifesciences Limited, Block BN, Plot 7, Sector-V, Salt Lake, Kolkata, West Bengal, 700091 India. ^cCentre for Distance and Online Education, Vidyasagar University, Midnapore, West Bengal, 721102 India.

*Correspondence: vogesh.che@cpuh.in;drpkp@vahoo.com

Abstract: Catalytic asymmetric synthesis has appeared as the preferred method for producing enantiomerically pure compounds, marking

significant advancements in recent years. In biological processes, asymmetric catalysis governs the synthesis of chiral compounds, facilitated through the chirality transfer following reactant binding at enzyme active sites. A revolutionary milestone in this area was the discovery of oxazaborolidine chiral catalysts by Corey, Bakshi, and Shibata (CBS catalysts), empowering the enantioselective reduction of achiral ketones. This discovery has had profound implications across industry and academia, establishing oxazaborolidines as pivotal tools for achieving chirality in chemical systems. The application of oxazaborolidines and their derivatives have been extensively explored for enantioselective reductions of various functional groups. While previous review articles focused on specialized functional groups, this review provides an overview (last fifteen years) of practical advancements in the use of boraneoxazaborolidine catalysts for the enantioselective reduction of challenging functional groups such as ketones, ketimines, and oximes. These advancements



have facilitated the synthesis of various building blocks for natural products. We also highlighted the potential of oxazaborolidinones as it was remains largely underutilized, presenting an exciting opportunity for future investigations.

Keywords: enantioselective, oxazaborolidine, oxazaborolidinone, hydride transfer, reduction.

Contents

Biographical Information		11
1.	Introduction	11
2.	Oxazaborolidine synthesis and its use in	
	asymmetric borane reduction	12
3.	Synthesis of natural products congeners	14
4.	Synthesis of Chiral Intermediates, Ligands and	
	Building Blocks	17
5.	Oxazaborolidinone	21
6.	Conclusion	24
	Author Contribution Declaration	24
	Data Availability Declaration	24
	Acknowledgements	24
	References	24

1. Introduction

Chirality is crucial in biological, chemical, pharmaceuticals and material science. In recent years, remarkable advancement has been attained in catalytic asymmetric processes. Catalytic asymmetric synthesis has emerged the most desired technique to make enantiomerically pure compounds. Asymmetric catalysis enables the production of asymmetric compounds in biological processes. Natural processes drive reactants bind enzyme active sites by chirality transfer. Most commonly inchemical systems, one of the reactants binds to the chiral catalyst which then influences the other reactant by transferring the chirality.1

In the mid-20thcentury, the discovery of NaBH₄ (1942)² and LiAlH₄ (1945)³, known for their typical reducing properties, transformed synthetic organic chemistry. Chemist began exploring complex metal hydrides, including LiAlH₄ and LiBH₄, for use in synthetic organic chemistry. Over the next thirty years, numerous studies investigated "mixture reagents," like LiAlH₄ combined with chiral 1,2-diols, 1,2aminoalcohols, 1,2-diamines, hy-droxymethyl oxazolines, BF₃, and chiral amino acid esters.⁴ These systems demonstrated good enantioselectivity but were rarely used in organic synthesis due to issues like catalyst solubility, unknown reactive species, and a lack of mechanistic understanding of enantioselectivity. While Mosher and Yamaguchi achieved promising results with Darvon alcohol and LiAIH₄, these problems persisted.⁵

Prof. Yogesh K. Walia completed his Ph.D. from Barkatullah

University (formerly Bhopal University) in 2010. His research focuses on interdisciplinary areas like natural product and synthetic chemistry, environmental protection. Currently, he serves as a Professor of Organic Chemistry and also holds the position of Controller of Examinations at Career Point University in Hamirpur, India. He supervised several master's and Ph.D. scholars.



undergraduate and

Souvik Sarkar has completed his underg postgraduate studies from Kalyani University, West Bengal, India. Presently, he is working as a Team Lead in TCG Life Sciences Pvt. Ltd. (TCGLS), Kolkata, West Bengal, India. With over 18 years of experience in synthetic organic chemistry within an industrial setting, he is particularly fascinated in troubleshooting synthetic complex chemistry challenges.



Dr. Soma Das Pradhan completed her undergraduate and postgraduate studies at Vidyasagar University, West Bengal, India. Then She joined the group of Prof. D. K. Bhattacharyya, Calcutta University for her Ph. D. studies. Her interests focus on synthesis and characterization of surfactants produced biotechnologically and biosurfactants produced from living organisms. She is working as Assistant Professor of Chemistry at Vidyasagar University, West Bengal, India.



Dr. Prasun Kanti Pradhan earned his Ph.D. in 2006 from the CSIR-IICB (Jadavpur University), Kolkata, West Bengal, India focused on synthetic studies of β -aryl

ethyl amine derivatives. He did postdoctoral research in asymmetric catalysis in the laboratory of Professors Masato Kitamura and Riyoji Noyori in Noyori's Organic Synthesis Group, under RCMS



fellowship at Nagoya University, Japan. In 2010, he joined TCG Life Sciences Pvt. Ltd. in Kolkata, where he currently serves as a Senior Lead Scientist.

Although applicable to certain substrates, the high costs limited the practicality of this reducing system. After thirty years of attempting to combine these reducing agents with different chiral ligands for efficient asymmetric synthesis, results persisted disappointing. Finally, in the 1980s, Itsuno and his coworkers achieved encouraging outcomes with mixtures of chiral 1,2-amino alcohols and borane (Figure 1).6 They used borane and chiral amino alcohols (1-4) (obtained from α-amino acids) to reduce aromatic ketones into the corresponding secondary alcohols with up to 60% stereoselectivity. The amino alcohols (1-4) formed complexes with borane (alkoxy-amine-borane complexes), releasing one

Innov. Chem. N

equivalent of hydrogen gas at -70 to 0°C. However, they could not afford a mechanistic clarification for the detected enantioselectivity.⁷ It was Noyori who first provided a clear mechanistic explanation for high enantioselectivity using a mixture of (*S*)- or (*R*)-BINOL, LiAIH4, and ethanol, known as the Noyori reagent.⁸



Figure 1. Amino alcohols used by Itsuno and co-workers.

2. Oxazaborolidine synthesis and its use in asymmetric borane reduction

These critical annotations resulted in the discovery of chiral oxazaborolidine catalysts by Corey, Bakshi, and Shibata (CBS catalysts)⁹ for the enantioselective reduction of various achiral ketones, known as CBS reduction. The CBS catalysts were prepared by reacting amino alcohol with two equivalents of BH₃ in THF or BMS at 30°C for 6 hours. Different borane sources and reaction conditions were also explored for making oxazaborolidine catalysts (Scheme 1).¹⁰

There are more reports on the enantioselective reduction of prochiral ketones than on the reduction of oximes or ketimines.¹¹ For prochiral ketones, these reductions are highly effective for most aryl alkyl ketones including various functionalized ketones such as heterocyclic ketones, α -hydroxy ketones, diketones, α -halo- and sulfonyloxy ketones, α -keto acetals or thioketals, α , β -enones and ynones, keto esters, keto phosphates, α -azido ketones, meso-imides, β -keto sulfides and sulfones, and biaryl ketones and lactones. The use of even 2 mol% of oxazaborolidine catalyst achieves high enantioselectivity with predictable configurations (Schemes 2 and 3).



Scheme 1. Synthesis of oxazaborolidine (Corey-Bakshi-Shibata Reagent).



Scheme 2. Asymmetric reduction of ketimines by borane-oxazaborolidine.



Scheme 3. Asymmetric reduction of functionalized ketones by boraneoxazaborolidine.

They established the reaction of amino alcohols with two equivalents of BH₃ in THF at 35 °C formed two equivalents of H₂ gas and the oxazaborolidine, which was achieved in pure form upon subsequent elimination of the solvent and excess BH₃ under reduced pressure and sublimation (Scheme **4**).



Scheme 4. Enantioselective reduction of ketones by oxazaborolidine proposed by Corey.

The pioneering discovery of oxazaborolidine marked a milestone, leading to the rapid expansion of CBS reduction, which is now considered a major synthetic method for the asymmetric reduction of prochiral ketones. This reduction technique has broad applications, including the synthesis of (1) chiral ligands, (2) intermediates, (3) bioactive compounds, and (4) natural products.

The use of the above-mentioned stoichiometric reagents achieved remarkable success, but it required at least one equivalent of the reagents. This drawback, due to the low availability and high cost of the reagents, accentuated the need to develop catalytic methods for these sorts of reductions. Later, Itsuno and Corey observed high enantioselectivity with predictable configurations in the reduction of prochiral ketones, even with just 2 mol% of oxazaborolidine (Figure 2).¹²



Figure 2. Selected oxazaborolidines.

However, these borane exporters have certain limitations for large-scale implementations, including high sensitivity to air and moisture, low concentration and stability of BH_3 -THF, and the high volatility, flammability, and nasty scent of BMS.

The oxazaborolidine-catalyzed borane reductions have been extensively studied by Itsuno¹³ and Corey¹⁴. Given the numerous reviews till date, this review attention on the fresh applications of chiral borane-oxazaborolidines in synthetic organic chemistry.¹⁵ Baranowska-Łaczkowska and colleagues theoretically investigated B-substituted oxazaborolidineborane complexes using MP2 and DFT/B3LYP methods. They observed that in closed structure complexes, the oxazaborolidine ring with a B-H-B bond is more planar compared to open complexes, due to a rigid hydrogen bridge between the boron atoms.^{16a} The interaction energies in the closed complexes are 1.5 to 2.5 times greater than those in the open complexes, with the highest values found in Btrifluoromethyl substituted complexes. This increase is likely due to the strong electron-withdrawing trifluoromethyl (CF₃) group, which reduces electron density on the B1 atom and leads to the formation of a B-H-B bond (Figure 3). The enhanced interactions in B-trifluoromethyl complexes suggest they may be more stable and easier to isolate, despite the computational model not considering factors like solvent effects.



Figure 3. Close vs open ring in B-H-B bond.

Kettouche *et al.* explored the origin of selectivity in the [2+2] cycloaddition step of the enantioselective reduction of ketone mechanism by a *B*-methoxy oxazaborolidine catalyst resulted from (–)- β -pinene.^{16b} They provided a clear clarification of the construction of O–B and N–B bonds through a two-stage, one-step mechanism using electron localization function topological analysis. They proposed that the stability difference between these bonds primarily arises from the methanediyl group alignment within the pinene skeleton.

In connecetion with the enantioselctive reduction of ketamine, Nacereddine *et al.* studied theoretically to undedrstand the origin of enantioselectivity by using transition state theory and DFT methods at the B3LYP/6-31G(d,p) level by oxazaborolidine catalyst.^{19c} Their findings show that hydride transfer to the *Si* face is more favorable than to the *Re* face. Analysis of non-covalent interactions and molecular electrostatic potential reveals that several favorable interactions during the *Si* face hydride transfer contribute to the observed enantioselectivity (Figure **4**). Additionally, Electron Localization Function topological analysis directs that the hydride transfer mechanism occurs through a non-concerted three-stage.



Figure 4. Interactions during the hydride transfer (Re & Si face). Bach and Daniel provided an outstanding overview on the diversity and intricacy of chiral 1,3,2-oxazaborolidine catalysts used in asymmttic photochemical reactions. They emphasized the significance of the B-H-B bridging interaction in Bsubstituted oxazaborolidine-BH3 complexes. In these reductions, oxazaborolidines serve both as catalysts and stoichiometric reagents for asymmetric induction. Amongthese, the well-known, commercially available CBS reagents and their analogues are widely recognized as some of the utmost effective asymmetric catalysts for such reductions.^{14,17} Typically, oxazaborolidine-mediated borane reductions are conducted by adding prochiral ketones, imines, or oximes to a mixture of oxazaborolidine and borane transporters in an suitable solvent at ambient temperature. Although, Corey and his team introduced fluorine substituents into the chiral ligand, resulting in a new, second-generation of chiral oxazaborolidinium cationic class which is effective even at loadings of 1-2 mol %.18 These species, when combined with various Lewis acids, are highly effective for Diels-Alder reactions, achieving good yields and high enantioselectivities (>95%ee) and these new catalysts particularly appealing for large-scale production. They found that using the strong acid triflimide (Tf₂NH) in a CH₂Cl₂ solution enhances the catalytic activity of these oxazaborolidines. The combination of Tf2NH with biscoordinating Lewis acids TiCl₄ or SnCl₄ as coactivators significantly boosts catalytic efficiency. This increase in acidity with Tf₂NH is notably greater when paired with biscoordinating agents like TiCl₄ and SnCl₄ compared to monocoordinating salts, even strong Lewis acids including AlBr₃ and BBr₃ in CH₂Cl₂ or CH₂Cl₂/toluene. The enhanced acidity of Tf₂NH is attributed to the formation of a stabilized cyclic anionic complex with TiCl₄, suggesting broader applicability. The activation of fluorinated oxazaborolidines using Tf2NH-TiCl4 has been demonstrated its effectiveness while use in the enantioselective (4 + 2) cycloaddition reaction to afford α , β unsaturated acid chlorides (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Corey's Second Generation Catalysts (Top); reactive complex for [4+2]-cycloaddition reactions (Bottom)

First, Brown *et al.* achieved the synthesis of hebelophyllene E (8) and established its previously strange relative configuration by synthesizing *epi*-ent-hebelophyllene E. The key of the methodology was the catalytic enantioselective [2+2]

cycloaddition step using a novel oxazaborolidine catalyst **7**, which facilitated the reaction of alkenes **6** and allenoates **5** to produce chiral geminal dimethylcyclobutanes adduct with high functional-group tolerance. This tactic permitted a late-stage cycloaddition with a completely functionalized alkene, trailed by a diastereoselective reduction, leading to the hebelophyllene natural product (Scheme **5**).¹⁹



Scheme 5. Enantioselective [2+2] cycloaddition by oxazaborolidine catalyst.

3. Synthesis of natural products

congeners

Oxazaborolidines have demonstrated to be extremely beneficial and versatile catalysts in the synthesis of various biologically significant complex molecules, such as estrone, desogestrel, laurenditerpenol, and dolabellane-type marine natural products, including the oral antiflu drug oseltamivir (Tamiflu[®]). The development of the avian virus N1H5 raises the opportunity of a pandemic wave of deadly flu, demanding prompt action.²⁰ Therefore, the total synthesis of oseltamivir offers several advantages over existing procedures and has the potential to rise the production rate.

A short, scalable, and straightforward enantioselective Diels– Alder reaction route was reported by Corey *et al.*²¹ for synthesizing the anti-influenza neuraminidase inhibitor oseltamivir (Tamiflu[®] **13**) from 1,3-butadiene (**9**) and acrylate **10**. The reaction of butadiene **9** with trifluoroethyl acrylate (**10**), in the presence of *S*-prolinol-derived oxazaborolidine cation catalyst **11**, formed the adduct **12**. This adduct was then further elaborated through multiple steps to synthesize oseltamivir (**13**) (Scheme **6**).

Enantioselective reduction of a-methylene ketones using oxazaborolidine-catalyst have reported Ishibashi et al.22 conducted efficiently and the rection usina borane-diethylaniline (BH3-Et2NPh) as a stoichiometric reducing agent. Combining this method with the successive hydrogenation of the allylic alcohol produced enhanced stereoselectivity during the reduction of 24-oxocholesteryl ester to 24-(R)-hydroxycholesteryl ester. Under optimized conditions, the oxazaborolidine (Me-CBS)-catalyzed reduction of 14 afforded the allylic alcoholintermediate with 87% yield and high enantioselectivity (R/S 97.5:2.5). The hydrogenation of exo-methylene group regioselectively was achieved the intermediate using H₂ and Wilkinson's catalyst, resulting in (R)hydroxycholesteryl acetate 15 with 84% yield (Scheme 7). Tülay Yıldız developed a synthetic approach to produce new chiral allylic alcohols 17 through the enantioselective reduction of (E)- α , β -unsaturated ketones **16**. This method employs oxazaborolidine catalysts, which are derived from amino alcohol and trimethylboroxine, and achieves hiah enantioselectivity and chemoselectivity. The reduction is carried out in toluene at -20 °C and typically completes within 0.5-2 hours (Scheme 8). 22b



Oseltamivir (Tamiflu[®])

Scheme 6. Enantioselective Diels-Alder reaction using chiral oxazaborolidine catalyst.



Scheme 7. Enantioselective reduction of α-methylene ketone.



Scheme 8. Enantioselective reduction of α-methylene ketone.

Epothilones represent an encouraging new class of anticancer drugs (Figure 6). Preclinical studies have exposed that epothilones effectively bind to and alleviate microtubules, similar to paclitaxel but with some differences, and they are effective in tumor representations resistant to paclitaxel.

Clinical data from phase I and phase II trials are accessible for BMS-247550, BMS-310705, EPO906, and KOS-862. Like taxanes, epothilones prevent cancer cell division by intrusive with tubulin. However, early trials suggest that epothilones deal better effectiveness and milder adversarial effects compared to taxanes.²³



Figure 6. Structure of Epothilones A, B, C and D.

Reiff *et al.*²⁴ successfully accomplished the total synthesis of epothilones A, B, C, and D using novel and efficient asymmetric synthetic methods to prepare two key building

blocks (Scheme 9). A decisive step in this synthesis was the asymmetric reduction of (*E*)-5-(tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy)-2methyl-1-(2-methylthiazol-4-yl)pent-1-en-3-one **18**, achieved using (*R*)-Me-CBS-oxazaborolidine to yield (*S*)-alcohol **19**. The final epothilone products were achieved through a wellestablished total synthetic strategy.²⁵



Scheme 9. Total synthesis of Epothilones A, B, C and D.

Rano *et al.*²⁶ reported the asymmetric synthesis of 3,4-dihydro-2-[3-(1,1,2,2-tetrafluoroethoxy)phenyl]-5-[3(trifluoromethoxy) phenyl]- α -(trifluoromethyl)-1(2*H*)-quinoline ethanol **22**, a cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CEPT) inhibitor. The asymmetric alcohol intermediate **21** was achieved through the chiral reduction of a ketone using Corey's (*R*)-Me CBS oxazaborolidine reagent and a tetrahydroquinoline core was formed *via* a Cu-mediated intramolecular amination reaction. Additionally, the synthesis of the prochiral ketone **20** was enhanced by eradicating the use of a harmful aryltin reagent (Scheme **10**).

First, Canales et al.²⁷ reported the synthesis of hitherto mysterious N-methyl oxazaborolidine cations **23**, specifically a cationic proline derivative that functions as a stronger chiral Lewis acid than the typical oxazaborolidine catalyst. They presented a new method for synthesizing oxazaborolidines by reacting lithium aryl borohydrides with amino alcohol salts. This cationic oxazaborolidine reagent is highly effective in [4+2] cycloaddition reactions. For instance, the diene 7-methoxy-4-vinyl-1,2-dihydro-naphthalene **24** reacted with the 2-methyl-cyclopent-2-enone dienophile **25** to produce the adduct **26** in noble yield and with extraordinary enantioselectivity (Scheme **11**). Several diverse examples, including estrone, demonstrate the broad applicability of this catalytic methodology.



Scheme 10. Total synthesis of 3, 4-dihydro-2-[3-(1,1,2,2-tetrafluoroethoxy) phenyl]-5-[3-(trifluoromethoxy) phenyl]-α-(trifluoromethyl)-1(2H)-quinoline ethanol.



Scheme 11. Asymmetric [4+2] cycloaddition reaction by N-methyl oxazaborolidine cations.

Corsifuran A (**29**) is one of three corsifurans, featuring a 4',5dioxygenated-2-arylbenzofuran skeleton. This compound was isolated from the Mediterranean liverwort *Corsinia coriandrina*.²⁸ The skeleton of corsifuran is believed to be biogenetically derived from a stilbenoid precursor, and the biogenic material has been validated to possess high enantiomeric purity.²⁹

The asymmetric reduction of ketones using boraneoxazaborolidine could potentially enable the synthesis of various natural products.^{30a} Adams *et al.* successfully synthesized enantiomerically pure corsifuran A for first time through an enantioselective reduction procedure, enabling the validation of the absolute stereochemistry of the natural product. The asymmetric reduction of ketone **27a** with the B-OMe oxazaborolidine derived from either (1*R*,2*S*)- or (1*S*,2*R*)*cis*-1-amino-indan-2-ol afforded the *S* and *R* enantiomers of the alcohol **28a** with 76% and 78% enantiomeric excess, respectively. Further, recrystallization of the alcohol lead to in >99% enantiomeric purity. Corsifuran A (**29**) was then obtained *via* cycloetherification using numerous palladium catalysts along with widespread ligands and bases (Scheme **12**).^{30b}

Kawanami *et al.*^{30c} reported the enantioselective reduction of the highly reactive prochiral trifluoromethyl ketone **27b** to its corresponding alcohol **28b** using an oxazaborolidine catalyst produced *in situ* from BH₃–THF with chiral lactam alcohol. This catalyst assisted the enantioselective reduction of trifluoromethyl ketones **27b** in CHCl₃ at room temperature, achieving up to 86% enantiomeric excess (*ee*) (Scheme **13**).



Scheme 12. Asymmetricsynthesis of corsifuran A through an enantioselective oxazaborolidine reduction.

They also found that $CHCl_3$, a polar halogenated organic solvent, was optimal for attaining high enantioselectivities with reactive trifluoromethyl ketones, as CH_2Cl_2 generally provides

lower ee compared to THF and toluene in the asymmetric reduction of typical ketones. This practical method offers several advantages, including stability towards air and moisture and milder reaction conditions compared to previously reported methods.³¹ They also investigated the influence of BF3 on the enantioselective reduction of trifluoromethyl ketones 27b with a chiral lactam alcohol and found that BF3.THF borane. Thev improved the enantioselectivity of the reduction of reactive trifluoromethyl ketones at room temperature. The BF3 THF addition to an in situ generated oxazaborolidine catalyst, derived from the chiral lactam alcohol and borane, boosted both the enantioselectivity (up to 90% ee) and yield (up to 91%).30d



Scheme 13. Enantioselective reduction of trifluoromethyl ketones by borane-oxazaborolidine derived from a chiral lactam alcohol.

Sasikala *et al.*³² developed an efficient, cost-effective, and scalable synthesis of ezetimibe (**32**), an antihypercholesterolemia drug. Chiral oxazolidinone chemistry was engaged to establish the necessary stereochemistry of the β -lactam ring **30**, while chiral oxazaborolidine was used to determine the stereochemistry of the hydroxyl group. This synthesis significantly reduces costs and facilitates large-scale production of ezetimibe (Scheme **14**).

Tamura *et al.*³³ reported the total synthesis of peumusolide A (**35**), an inhibitor of MAPK/ERK kinase (MEK) with a nonantagonistic nuclear export signal (NES)³⁴ mode, derived from the South American medicinal plant *Peumus boldus Molina*. Peumusolide A has been established to be a encouraging antitumor skeleton, showing selective growth inhibition in MEKactivated tumor cells.³⁵ In addition to peumusolide A, numerous related polyketides with extraordinary biological activities have also been identified.³⁶

Peumusolide A had been synthesised *via* an enantioselective reduction of 4-en-1-yn-3-one **33** to form corresponding alcohol **34** with the use of chiral oxazaborolidine as the vital reaction step (Scheme **15**).



Scheme 14. Synthesis of ezetimibe.



Scheme 15. Total synthesis of (S)-peumusolide A.

The total syntheses of the odorants georgyone, arborone, and associated structural congeners was reported by Corey and Hong³⁷. A decisive step in each synthesis was the intermolecular Diels–Alder reaction between diene **36** and 2-methylacrolein **37**, catalyzed by (*S*)-oxazaborolidinium salt. This reaction was extremely enantioselective, producing the adduct **38** through an *exo* [2+4] pathway with 96% enantiomeric excess and a 76% yield. For instance, in the synthesis of (–)-georgyone, the intermediate was achieved with 96% enantiomeric excess and a diastereomeric ratio of 6:1 (Scheme **16**).



Scheme 16. Oxazaborolidinium salt catalysed intermolecular Diels-Alder reaction.

Shimoda and Yamamoto developed a novel axially chiral oxazaborolidine catalyst (**39a**), which combines a chiral boronic acid with a readily modifiable achiral amino alcohol.^{38a} This catalyst demonstrated effective in a Diels–Alder reaction between diene **41** and dinophile **40**, yielding the desired adduct with notable enantioselectivity. Furthermore, the bis(oxazaborolidine) catalyst (**39b**), featuring two Lewis acidic centers, achieved even greater enantioselectivity in the Diels–Alder reaction (Scheme **17**).



Scheme 17. Axially chiral oxazaborolidine catalysts for effective Diels-Alder [4+2] reaction.

Chen et al.^{38b} described a catalytic, highly regio- and enantioselective Diels-Alder reaction involving (*E*)-4-oxopent-

2-enoates (**45**) as dienophiles and diene **44** to afford the adduct **46**. This reaction was facilitated by oxazaborolidines **43**, which were activated into cationic chiral catalysts using either the strong acid triflimide or AlBr₃ (Scheme **18**).



Scheme 18. Catalytic regio- and enantioselective [4+2] Diels-Alder reaction.

4. Synthesis of Chiral Intermediates, Ligands and Building Blocks

The synthesis of several therapeutic agents and complex natural products depends on the accessibility of chiral intermediates, which serve as essential building blocks for further structural and stereochemical variations. Asymmetric catalysis has turn into one of the most resourceful methods for preparing a diverse range of small molecules in highly enantiomerically-enriched forms.

Cho³⁹ reviewed the use of chiral oxazaborolidine-mediated borane reductions for prochiral ketones and ketimines. This approach has been extensively engaged for the greatly effective asymmetric synthesis of a wide array of chiral natural products, building blocks, bioactive compounds, intermediates, and ligands, all of which feature chiral alcohol or amine functionalities in their structures.

Xiao *et al.*⁴⁰ employed natural product skeletons as novel chiral synthons for asymmetric catalytic transformations and presented a new class of structurally stiff tricyclic chiral ligands for asymmetric catalysis. They described the design and synthesis of these fresh chiral ligands and their effectiveness in the asymmetric reduction of ketones, achieving good yields and enantioselectivities. They exploited a tryptophan-based hexahydropyrrolo [2,3-*b*]indole skeleton as a rigid chiral backbone to achieve enantiocontrol, benefiting from its tricyclic and structurally rigid nature (Figure **7**). This chiral oxazaborolidine ligand was synthesized *in situ* for the reduction of functionalized ketones.



 $\label{eq:rescaled} \begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R} = \mathsf{CO}_2\mathsf{E}\mathsf{t}, \ \mathsf{COCH}_3, \ \mathsf{CO}_2\mathsf{CH}(\mathsf{CH}_3)_2, \ \mathsf{CO}_2\mathsf{Ph} \\ \mathsf{R}' = \mathsf{H}, \ \mathsf{Ph} \end{array}$

Figure 7. Natural product skeletons used for oxazaborolidine catalyst.

Yune *et al.*⁴¹ reported the enantioselective reduction of prochiral ketones using mesoporous silica-supported oxazaborolidines in a heterogeneous phase (Figure **8**). They estimated how immobilization of oxazaborolidines on silica, with different substituents on the boron and nitrogen atoms, affected the enantioselective reduction of acetophenone. The performance of the silica-supported oxazaborolidines was

https://doi.org/10.63654/icms.2024.01011

compared to their homogeneous analogs by changing several parameters.



Figure 8. Silica supported oxazaborolidine catalyst.

Kettouche *et al.*⁴² introduced a fresh method for preparing oxazaborolidine catalysts *in situ*, employing 1,2-aminoalcohol, NaBH₄, and CH₂I₂ for the asymmetric reduction of prochiral ketones and imines (Scheme **19**). The oxazaborolidine catalyst is handily synthesized at room temperature in THF using 1,2-aminoalcohols and BH₃ generated from the sodium borohydride/CH₂I₂ reagent system. This *in situ* prepared oxazaborolidine/BH₃ reagent system is effective for reducing prochiral ketones and N-substituted imines to their corresponding alcohols and amines with reasonable to good enantiomeric excesses. This method delivers a relatively humble and inexpensive methodology for this broadly used transformation in synthesis.

Corey and his colleagues⁴³ accompanied a catalytic, enantioselective Michael addition reaction using 20 mol% of catalyst. The reaction among a silyl ketene acetal **47** and cyclohexenone **48** formed the 1,4-addition product **49** with a yield of 91% and an enantiomeric excess of 90% (Scheme **20**).



Scheme 19. Asymmetric reduction of prochiral ketones and N-substituted imines.



Scheme 20. Enantioselective Michael addition reaction by oxazaborolidinum salt.

Application of chiral oxazaborolidinium salts in asymmetric vinylogous Mukaiyama Aldol reaction, was reported first by Boeckman *et al.* ⁴⁴ The synthesis of butenolide **52** was achieved with good diastereoselectivity by adding trimethylsiloxyfuran **51** to aldehyde **50** in the presence of oxazaborolidine catalyst **53**. Incorporating additional methyl substituents on the diphenyl group of the oxazaborolidinium

salt enhanced the diastereoselectivity to over 90% with an 80% yield (Scheme **21**).



Scheme 21. Asymmetric vinylogous Mukaiyama Aldol reaction by Oxazaborolidinium salts.

Jones *et al.*^{45a} described an enantioselective reductive desymmetrization of glutarimides **55** using an oxazaborolidine catalyst **54a** derived from *cis*-1-amino-indan-2-ol. The reaction was shown to proceed *via* a stereoablative mechanism, which boosted the enantioselectivity of the intermediate hydroxylactam. The process accommodated various substituents at the 4-position **56**, achieving with 61% enantiomeric excesses exceeding 82% (Scheme **22**).



Scheme 22. Enantioselective reductive desymmetrization of glutarimides by borane-oxazaborolidine.

The same group also accomplished enantioselective catalytic desymmetrization of maleimides by temporarily removing an internal mirror plane and using stereoablative over-reduction. This approach led to the synthesis of (*R*)-pyrrolam A (**60**).^{45b} In this over reduction course is critical for attaining product with yield 85% and up to 99% ee (Scheme **23**)



Scheme 23. Asymmetric desymmetrization of maleimides leading to synthesis of (R)-pyrrolam A.

Grayson and Farrar reported that their computational analyses have introduced a new reaction model with benzaldehyde **62** and alkene **63a** for the noncovalent interactions in the oxazaborolidine **61** catalyzed Mukaiyama aldol reaction, which aligns with experimental selectivity and has been validated for systems with less polarized and nonaromatic boron substituents.⁴⁶ The observed selectivity is explained by $\pi-\pi$ interactions present in the major transition states, which are geometrically infeasible in the minor transition states due to the orientation of nucleophilic binding (Scheme **24**).



Drummond *et al.*⁴⁷ developed a new general method for preparing optically active α-amino acids. The process comprises a key ruthenium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction to produce a range of α , β -unsaturated ketones **65**, which are then reduced to allylic secondary alcohols **66** using a chiral Me-CBS oxazaborolidine. The resulting alcohol endures a thermal Overman rearrangement to form a series of allylic trichloroacetimidates, which are subsequently transformed to the target α-amino acids **67** under standard conditions, yielding good overall results (Scheme **25**).



Yang *et al.*⁴⁸ established a novel camphor-based chiral amino alcohol and described its use in the asymmetric reduction of prochiral aryl ketones by borane at room temperature, utilizing oxazaborolidines derived from chiral amino alcohols. The oxazaborolidine **69** demonstrated greater selectivity compared to **68** (Scheme **26**).

Zaidlewicz et. al were introduced of some new class of oxazaborolidine derived from terpene and used for prochiral ketones and enantioselective reduction of oximeethers.⁴⁹ They found that the reduction of (E)-ketoxime O-benzyl ethers 71 using borane catalyzed by terpene-derived oxazaborolidines 70 specifically those derived from (1R)nopinone and (1R)-camphor produced the corresponding amines up to 99% enantiomeric excess. In contrast, oxazaborolidines derived from (1S)-2-carene and (1S)-3carene exhibited lower selectivity. Additionally, (S)-1-(3methoxyphenyl)ethanamine (72), a key intermediate for synthesizing (S)-rivastigmine (73), was obtained with 94% ee by reducing (E)-1-(3-methoxyphenyl)ethanone O-benzyl oxime using borane and oxazaborolidine generated from (S)valinol (Scheme 27).49e



Scheme 26. Synthesis of a novel camphor based chiral amino alcohol for preparing oxazaborolidine catalyst.



Scheme 27. Enantioselective reduction of ketoxime ethers by terpenederived oxazaborolidines.

Breuning's group presented two novel tricyclic 1,3,2oxazaborolidines **74**, synthesized in seven steps from methyl Boc-I-pyroglutamate. These compounds feature an ortho- and peri-fused 5/5/6-ring system with a B–N bond forming one of the ring junctions.⁵⁰ Asymmetric borane reduction of ketones **75a**, the B-alkoxy bridged derivative succeeds superb enantioselectivities (up to 98% ee), with activity akin to that of the standard CBS catalyst. In contrast, the closely related Balkyl bridged derivative shows lower enantioselectivity and reduced activity, as confirmed by competition experiments (Scheme **28**).

Kettouche conducted an in-depth DFT study using wB97XD/6-31G(d,p) to explore the mechanism of enantioselective ketone reduction catalyzed by a B-methoxy-oxazaborolidine derived from (-)- β -pinene.⁵¹ The study revealed that the reaction occurs in six steps: (a) formation of the active catalyst-borane adduct (Figure **9a**), (b) coordination of the aromatic ketone to the catalyst-borane adduct (Figure **9b**), (c) transfer of a hydrogen atom from the boron atom to the prochiral carbon center (Figure **9c**), (d) creation of a four-membered ring (B-O-B-N) through a [2 + 2] cycloaddition (Figure **9d**), (e) opening of the four-membered ring (B1-O2-B3-N4) (Figure **9e**), and (f) regeneration of the catalyst (Figure **9f**).

Innov. Chem. Mater. Sustain.2024, 1(1), 011-029

Kettouche concluded that the stereoselectivity of the reaction is determined by the intramolecular hydride transfer from the BH₃ moiety to the Si or Re face of the carbonyl substrate. The S-type chirality of the reduced products aligns with experimental results (Figure-9). Additionally, non-covalent interaction analysis of the most favorable transition state advocates a dispersive interaction between the hydrogen atom of the methanediyl group within the pinene skeleton. The stabilization provided by the two-atom [O-B] unit helps explain the experimentally observed S selectivity.



Scheme 28. Enantioselective reduction of reactive ketones by oxazaborolidine catalyst.



Figure 9. Proposed catalytic steps based on DFT analyses

Krische *et al.*⁵² fruitfully synthesized neaumycin B (**80**), a femtomolar inhibitor of U87 human glioblastoma, utilizing Ru-JOSIPHOS-catalyzed C–C bond-forming reactions. The key intermediate **79** to accessing neaumycin B (**80**) was the development of an asymmetric vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol (VMA) reaction specifically designed for linear aliphatic aldehydes **77**, a novel route for terminally methylated dienyl ketene acetals (Scheme **29**).

Disadee and Ruchirawat described an enantioselective synthesis of both natural and unnatural hypoestestatin **82a** and **82b** analogues with high yields (~91%) and significant enantioselectivity (up to 89% ee).⁵³ This was achieved through the parallel kinetic resolution of racemic ketones **81** using CBS-oxazaborolidine-catalyzed reduction, which produced two separable diastereomeric alcohols. Notably, this was the first





82D; K = OH, Hypoestestatin 2



time demonstrated the catalytic asymmetric reduction for secohypoestestatin 1 and 2.



Scheme 31. Enantioselective ketone reduction by N-boranes (noncyclic) and tris(oxazaborolidine)borazines (cyclic) derived from chiral β -amino alcohol.



This approach embraces potential for adapting racemic mixtures into enantioenriched forms, which could be useful for numerous biological assays in the future (Scheme **30**). Vougioukalakis *et al.*⁵⁴ thoroughly examined the influence of chiral β -amino alcohol *N*-boranes (noncyclic, **83**) and their corresponding tris(oxazaborolidine)borazines (cyclic; **84**) on the catalytic asymmetric reduction of prochiral ketones **75**. Both cyclic and noncyclic catalysts commendably twisted secondary alcohols **76** with an ~82% yield. Interestingly, polycyclic borazine catalyst proved stability merely in nonprotic dry organic solvents, whereas the noncyclic catalyst persisted stable in both aqueous and organic solvents (Scheme **31**).

Sharma and colleagues described an efficient, concise, and scalable alternative method for synthesizing Izenamide A (**87a**) and B (**87b**) with high stereoselectivity.⁵⁵ Their tactic involves the enantioselective reduction of *N*-Boc γ -amino β -keto esters **85** to the corresponding alcohols **86** using 2-methyl-CBS-oxazaborolidine catalysts. They also demonstrated that by switching between different enantiomers of the 2-methyl-CBS-oxazaborolidine catalyst, they could synthesize both diastereomers of the alcohol. This methodology could be of excessive significance, as γ -amino β -ketoesters exemplify a key motif in drug discovery (Scheme **32**).

5. Oxazaborolidinone

The enantioselective reduction of prochiral carbonyls and ketimines has been widely studied with oxazaborolidine catalysts compared to oxazaborolidinones. Kiyooka *et al.*⁵⁶ were the first to report an aldol reaction encouraged by a chiral oxazaborolidinone **88a**. This reaction involved a silyl ketene acetal **89** derived from ethyl 1,3-dithiolane-2-carboxylate and aldehyde **90**, resulting in the synthesis of acetate aldols **91** with high enantiomeric purity (Scheme **33**).



Scheme 33. Chiral oxazaborolidinone catalysed aldol reaction.

Komura *et al.*⁵⁷ discovered that the asymmetric repetitive Mukaiyama Aldol reaction among bis(trimethylsilylketene

thioacetal) **92** and dialdehydes **93**, when executed in the presence of chiral oxazaborolidinone **88a**, yielded optically active poly(β -hydroxy thioester) **94**. The extent of asymmetric induction during polymerization was measured through a model reaction and by chiral HPLC analysis of the degradation products of the chiral polymers (Scheme **34**). Simple Mukaiyama Aldol reaction also responded under this conditions.

Harada *et al.*⁵⁸ reported the inter- and intra-molecular differentiation of enantiotopic dioxane acetals **96** using an oxazaborolidinone **95** mediated enantioselective ring-cleavage reaction. They also perceived the kinetic resolution of racemic 1,3-alkanediols and the asymmetric desymmetrization of *meso*-1,3-polyols (Scheme **35**).



Scheme 35. Oxazaborolidinone catalysed enantioselective ring-cleavage reaction.

Wang *et al.*⁵⁹ reported enantioselective Lewis acid-catalyzed Mukaiyama-Michael reactions of acyclic enones **99** with trimethylsilyl ketene *S*, *O*-acetal **63b**, using allo-threoninederived *O*-aroyl-*B*-phenyl-*N*-tosyl-1,3,2-oxazaborolidin-5-ones **98** as catalysts to produce **100** (Scheme **36**). This model for asymmetric induction was recommended based on the correlation among catalyst structures and their enantioselectivities.

This new class of oxazaborolidinone catalysts **98** compromises a convenient method for producing enantioenriched γ -ketoacid thiol esters. Various alkenyl methyl ketones were effectively used as Michael acceptors, accomplishing enantiomeric excess values of 85-90% with the use of 10 mol% of the catalyst.





Scheme 36. Oxazaborolidinone catalysed enantioselective Mukaiyama-Michael reactions.

Harada and Singh⁶⁰ reported an enantioselective Diels–Alder reaction between acyclic enone dienophile **101** and diene **41**, catalyzed by allo-threonine-derived chiral oxazaborolidinone (10-20 mol%). This reaction produced the Diels-Alder adduct **102** with high yield, excellent endo selectivity, and 94% enantiomeric excess (Scheme **37**).

Simsek et al.61 developed oxazaborolidinone-promoted vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol reactions. They used tryptophanoxazaborolidinone derived **B**-phenyl 103 for the enantioselective vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol reaction between O,O-silyl ketene acetal 104 and aldehyde 90, facilitating efficient entrees to chiral building blocks 105 for polyketide synthesis (Scheme 38). Their studies also emphasized that isopropyl alcohol is compulsory as an additive to overturn the racemic TBS-catalyzed pathway and enhance enantioselectivity. For a-chiral aldehydes, they demonstrated that selecting proper protecting groups is crucial for achieving high selectivities. In the context of total syntheses, R-chiral aldehydes were utilized as substrates, revealing that TBS ethers afforded useful selectivities compared to PMBprotected substrates when the right protecting groups were chosen.



Scheme 37. Allo-threonine-derived chiral oxazaborolidinone catalysed Diels-Alder reaction.



Scheme 38. B-phenyloxazaborolidinone derived from tryptophane catalysed Mukaiyama aldol reaction.

Adachi *et al.*^{62a} established an asymmetric aldol reaction catalyzed by allo-threonine-derived oxazaborolidinone **106**.

This reaction comprises nonactivated aromatic ketones **75b** and silyl ketene *S*,*O*-acetals **107**, yielding tertiary hydroxy carbonyl compounds **108** with high enantioselectivity (Scheme **39**). They found that using dimethylsilyl ketene *S*,*O*-acetals instead of the conventional trimethylsilyl derivatives are crucial for achieving both effective catalytic activity and high selectivity.



Scheme 39. Asymmetric Aldol reaction of nonactivated aromatic ketones by oxazaborolidinone.

They also confirmed the enantioselective Friedel-Crafts alkylation of electron-rich heteroaromatics **109**, such as furans and indoles, with α , β -unsaturated ketones **110** using same oxazaborolidinone catalyst **106**. This work marked the first successful enantioselective Friedel-Crafts alkylation of furans with a monodentate α , β -unsaturated ketone using oxazaborolidinone catalysis (Scheme **40**). Additionally, the catalyst system was effectively applied to the alkylation of indoles, widening the range of substrates. The presence of *N*,*N*-dimethylaniline as an additive was found to be essential for achieving high enantioselectivity.^{62b}



Scheme 40. Enantioselective Friedel-Crafts alkylation reaction by oxazaborolidinone.

Micoine et al.63 have reported an efficient total synthesis of the antiproliferative macrolide and cell migration inhibitor lactimidomycin 113 (Scheme 41). The synthesis involved the key intermediate, the strained 12-membered 1,3-envne 112, which was elaborated to the final target through a highly diastereoselective Mukaiyama aldol reaction. This reaction controlled using tryptophan-derived was Rphenyloxazaborolidinone 103 as a strategic component. Costantino et al.64 introduced the first example of chiral oxazaborolidinones attached α-layered zirconium to phosphonates, demonstrating the versatility of these zirconium-based materials. They established heterogeneous catalysts that executed effectively in Mukaiyama aldol reactions, yielding good enantiomeric excess. The catalysts were derived from a mixed zirconium sulfophenylphosphonate methanphosphonate chiral borane 114 (Figure 10).



Figure 10.Oxazaborolidinone on the surface of lamella of α -Zr[O₃PC₆H₄SO₂NHCH(CH(CH₃)₂COOH)](O₃PCH₃).nH₂O.

While these heterogeneous catalysts exhibited somewhat lower performance compared to their homogeneous counterparts, the results are encouraging. This suggests substantial potential for similar systems utilizing insoluble zirconium phosphonates. The layered compounds were characterized using various techniques and subsequently reacted with BH_3 -THF to obtain the heterogeneous chiral oxazaborolidinone.

In this process, aldehyde **90a** and silyl ketene acetal **47** were reacted with the oxazaborolidinone immobilized on the surface of lamellar α -ZrO₃PC₆H₄SO₂NHCH(CH(CH₃)₂COOH).nH₂O **114**, resulting in the formation of the corresponding secondary alcohol **115** with up to 50% enantiomeric excess and traces of benzyl alcohol (Scheme **42**).

Gieseler et al.65 have recently presented an asymmetric vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol reaction using aldehyde-derived silvl dienol ethers with an oxazaborolidinone catalyst. Unsaturated aldehydes assist as valuable building blocks for further conversions in polyketide synthesis. This approach, which comprises standard transformations and the conjugate addition of hydrides followed by internal protonation, enables the synthesis of α -chiral aldehydes. The methodology affords an efficient route to R-substituted δ -hydroxy- α , β -unsaturated aldehydes 119 by reacting alkyl or aryl aldehydes 117 with silyl dienol ethers 118 using catalyst 116 (Scheme 43). These δ hydroxy- α , β -unsaturated aldehydes **119** are precursors for asymmetric protonation in the total synthesis of angiolam.66 Kalesse et al.67 described an oxazaborolidinone-mediated asymmetric bisvinylogous Mukaiyama Aldol reaction with alkene 120 and aldehyde 90 that supports the rapid formation of conjugated dienols 121. This approach extends the vinylogy principle by adding two additional carbons and could be performed with a readily available Lewis acid within reasonable reaction times. It accommodates a wide variety of aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes, facilitating the synthesis of complex building blocks for polyketide construction (Scheme 44).

Du *et al.*⁶⁸ reported the total synthesis of 27-Deoxylyngbyabellin A (**124**), a secondary metabolite from marine cyanobacteria, achieved in 10 linear steps with an overall yield of approximately 10%. A crucial intermediate, (*S*)- β -hydroxy ester **123**, was obtained through a chiral oxazaborolidinone-mediated asymmetric aldol reaction between silyl ketene acetal **47** and aldehyde **122** to afford 56% yield. This (*S*)- β -hydroxy ester **123**, together with two essential



Scheme 41. Total synthesis of lactimidomycin.



Scheme 42. Chiral oxazaborolidinone anchored ?-layered Zr-phosphonate catalyst for Mukaiyama aldol reaction.

thiazole units, was subsequently assembled to produce the 27-Deoxylyngbyabellin A natural product (Scheme **45**).



Scheme 43. Asymmetric vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol reaction by oxazaborolidinone catalyst.



Scheme 44. Asymmetric vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol reaction by oxazaborolidinone catalyst.



Scheme 45. Total synthesis of 27-Deoxylyngbyabellin A.

6. Conclusion

Over the years, the use of oxazaborolidine and borolidinone catalysts (or stoichiometric reagent) for reducing various functionalities has been broadly validated by researchers, particularly for their key applications in synthesizing bioactive natural products and building blocks. It is clear from this comprehensive review that the oxazaborolidine catalysed enantioselective reductions play significant roles both industrial and academic settings. In contrast, the use of oxazaborolidinone catalysts remains relatively unexplored, so there is a substantial opportunity to take up further investigation in this. Although, its numerous application in various chemical reactions, especially asymmetric catalysis but there are few drabacks such as limited stability as its highly air and moisture sensitive nature; sometime difficult to control reactivity for its stoichiometric uses leads to undesired side product; highly expensive fluorinated oxazaborolidine catalyst, The study of reactions catalyzed by oxazaborolidines and oxazaborolidinones holds huge potential, innovative developments, and more fascinating aspects are expected to originate from this area by enhancing stability using more robust functional groups or protective groups, adjusting reactivity to minimize side products, and lowering catalyst costs through more economical synthetic routes.

Author Contribution Declaration

YKW: designing, drafting manuscript, literature collections, and editing; **SS**: literature collections and updating recent work; **SDP**: drafting manuscript, and editing; **PKP**: drafting, editing and finalizing the manuscript.

Data Availability Declaration

There are no new data were created hence data sharing is not applicable.

Acknowledgements

We thankful to Dr. Sanjit Kumar Mahato, Specially Appointed Assistant Professor, Osaka university, Japan (Currently at PI Industries Ltd., Udaipur, Rajasthan, India) for providing critical feedback on mechanistic insight. Prof. Walia thanks to Career Point University Hamirpur for providing the infrastructure.

References

- Noyori, R. In Asymmetric Catalysis in Organic Synthesis; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1994.
- 2. H. I. Schlesinger, H. C. Brown, H. R. Hoekstra, L. R. Rapp. Reactions of Diborane with Alkali Metal Hydrides and Their Addition Compounds. New Syntheses of Borohydrides. Sodium and Potassium Borohydrides. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1953. 199. 75. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01097a053
- A. F. Finholt, A. C. Jr. Bond, H. I. Schlesinger. Acylations of Esters with Esters to Form β-Keto Esters Using Sodium Amide. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1947, 69, 119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01193a033</u>
- 4. (a) E. R. Grandbois, S. I. Howard, J. D. Morrison. Asymmetric Synthesis 1983, 2, Academic Press, New York, pp. 71-90. (b) J. W. ApSimon, T. L. Collier, Recent advances in asymmetric synthesis-II. Tetrahedron 1986, 42, 5157. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4020(01)82073-1 (c) H. Haubenstock. Topics in Stereochemistry 1983, 14, Wiley, New York, pp. 231-300. (d) T. Mukaiyama, M. Asami. In Topics in Current Chemistry, Organic Chemistry, 1985, 127, Springer, Berlin, pp. 133-167. (e) A. I. Meyers, P. M. Kendall. Synthesis via oxazolines. VII. Asymmetric reduction of ketones with chiral hydride Tetrahedron 1974. Lett. 15. 1337 reagents. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(01)82482-5 (f) M. F. Grundon, D. G. McCleery, J. W. Wilson. ibid. 1976, 17, 295.
- (a) S. Yamaguchi, H. S. Mosher. Asymmetric reductions with chiral reagents from lithium aluminum hydride and (+)-(2*S*,3*R*)-4-dimethylamino-3-methyl-1,2-diphenyl-2butanol. *J. Org. Chem.* **1973**, *38*, 1870.

https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00950a020 R. (b) S. Brinkmeyer, V. M. Kapoor. Asymmetric reduction. Reduction of acetylenic ketones with chiral hydride agent. 1977. 99. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 8339. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00467a047 (c) N. Cohen, R. J. Lopresti, C. Neukom, G. Saucy. Asymmetric reductions of α , β -acetylenic ketones and acetophenone using lithium aluminum hydride complexed with optically active 1,3amino alcohols. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 45, 582. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo01292a006

- (a) A. Hirao, S. Itsuno, S. Nakahama, N. Yamazaki. 6. Asymmetric reduction of aromatic ketones with chiral alkoxy-amineborane complexes. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun 1981. 315 https://doi.org/10.1039/C39810000315 (b) S. Itsuno, A. Hirao, S. Nakahama, N. Yamazaki. Asymmetric synthesis modified borohydrides. using chirally Part 1 Enantioselective reduction of aromatic ketones with the reagent prepared from borane and (S)-valinol. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1983. 1673 https://doi.org/10.1039/P19830001673
- S. Itsuno, M. Nakano, K. Miyazaki, V. Masuda, K. Ito, A. Hirao, S. Nakahama. Asymmetric synthesis using chirally modified borohydrides. Part 3. Enantioselective reduction of ketones and oxime ethers with reagents prepared from borane and chiral amino alcohols. *J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans.* 11985, 2039. https://doi.org/10.1039/P19850002039
- (a) R. Noyori, I. Tomino, Y. Tanimoto, M. Nishizawa. 8. Asymmetric synthesis via axially dissymmetric molecules. 6. Rational designing of efficient chiral reducing agents. Highly enantioselective reduction of aromatic ketones by binaphthol-modified lithium aluminum hydride reagents. J. Chem. Soc. 1984, Am. 106. 6709. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00334a041 (b) R. Noyori, I. Tomino, M. Yamada, M. Nishizawa. Asymmetric synthesis via axially dissymmetric molecules. 7. Synthetic applications of the enantioselective reduction by binaphthol-modified lithium aluminum hydride reagents. J. Chem. 1984, Am. Soc. 106. 6717. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00334a042
- (a) E. J. Corey, R. K. Bakshi, S. Shibata. Highly enantioselective borane reduction of ketones catalyzed by chiral oxazaborolidines. Mechanism and synthetic implications. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5551. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00252a056 (b) E. J. Corey, T. Shibata, T. W. Lee. Asymmetric Diels-Alder Reactions Catalyzed by a Triflic Acid Activated Chiral Oxazaborolidine. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 3808. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja025848x
- E. J. Corey, C. J. Helal. Reduction of Carbonyl Compounds with Chiral Oxazaborolidine Catalysts: A New Paradigm for Enantioselective Catalysis and a Powerful New Synthetic Method. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **1998**, *37*, 1986. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-3773(19980817)37:15<1986::AID-ANIE1986>3.0.CO;2-Z
 </u>
- C. Puigjaner, A. V. Ferran, A. Moyano, M. A. Pericàs, A. Riera. A New Family of Modular Chiral Ligands for the Catalytic Enantioselective Reduction of Prochiral Ketones. *J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, *64*, 7902. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jo990942q</u>

- 12. (a) S. Itsuno, M. Nakano, K. Miyazaki, H. Masuda, K. Ito, A. Hirao, S. Nakahama. Asymmetric synthesis using chirally modified borohydrides. Part 3. Enantioselective reduction of ketones and oxime ethers with reagents prepared from borane and chiral amino alcohols. J. Chem. 1985. 2039. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 https://doi.org/10.1039/P19850002039 (b) S. Itsuno, Y. Sakurai, K. Ito, A. Hirao, S. Nakahama. Catalytic Behavior of Optically Active Amino Alcohol-Borane Complex in the Enantioselective Reduction of Acetophenone Oxime O-Alkyl Ethers. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1987, 60, 395. https://doi.org/10.1246/bcsj.60.395 (c) S. Itsuno, Y. Sakurai, K. Shimizu, K. Ito. Asymmetric reduction of ketoxime O-alkyl ethers with chirally modified NaBH₄-ZrCl₄. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1990, 1859. https://doi.org/10.1039/P19900001859 (d) E. J. Corey, R. K. Bakshi, S. Shibata. Highly enantioselective borane reduction of ketones catalyzed by chiral oxazaborolidines. Mechanism and synthetic implications. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5551. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00252a056 (e) E. J. Corey, R. K. Bakshi, S. Shibata, C. - P. Chen, V. K. Singh. A stable and easily prepared catalyst for the enantioselective reduction of ketones. Applications to multistep syntheses. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7925. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00259a075 (f) R. Berenguer, J. Garcia, J. Vilarrasa. Enantioselective reduction of ketones catalysed by 1,3,2-oxazaborolidines prepared from phenylglycine. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 165. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0957-4166(00)86163-7 (g) G. J. Quallich, J. F. Blake, T. M. Woodall. A combined synthetic and ab initio study of chiral oxazaborolidines structure and enantioselectivity relationships. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8516. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00098a012 (h) N. N. Joshi, M. Srebnik, H. C. Brown. Chiral Oxazaborolidines as Catalysts for the Enantioselective Addition of Diethylzinc to Aldehydes. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 5551. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(01)93797-9 (h) Y. Hong, Y. Gao, X. Nie, C. M. Zepp. cis-1-amino-2indanol in asymmetric synthesis. Part I. A practical catalyst system for the enantioselective borane reduction of aromatic ketones. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6631. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)73453-8
- 13. (a) A. Hirao, S. Itsuno, S. Nakahama, N. Yamazaki. Asymmetric reduction of aromatic ketones with chiral alkoxy-amineborane complexes. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. 1981, Commun. 315. https://doi.org/10.1039/C39810000315 (b) S. Itsuno, M. Nakano, K. Miyazaki, H. Masuda, K. Ito, A. Hirao, S. Nakahama. Asymmetric synthesis using chirally modified borohydrides. Part 3. Enantioselective reduction of ketones and oxime ethers with reagents prepared from borane and chiral amino alcohols. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 11985. 2039. https://doi.org/10.1039/P19850002039
- 14. (a) E. J. Corey, R. K. Bakshi, S. Shibata. Highly enantioselective borane reduction of ketones catalyzed by chiral oxazaborolidines. Mechanism and synthetic implications. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5551. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00252a056 (b) E. J. Corey, R. K. Bakshi, S. Shibata, C.-P. Chen, V. K. Singh. A stable and easily prepared catalyst for the enantioselective reduction of ketones. Applications to multistep syntheses. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7925. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00259a075 (c) E. J. Corey, M.

Azimioara, S. Sarshar. X-Ray crystal structure of a chiral oxazaborolidine catalyst for enantioselective carbonyl reduction. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, 33, 3429. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)92654-6

- 15. For review, see: (a) D. P. Schwinger, T. Bach. Chiral 1,3,2-oxazaborolidine catalysts for enantioselective photochemical reactions. Acc. Chem. Res. 2020, 53, 1933. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.0c00379 (b) Y. Kawanami, R. C. Yanagita. Practical Enantioselective Reduction of Ketones Using Oxazaborolidine Catalysts Generated In Situ from Chiral Lactam Alcohols. Molecules 2018, 23, 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23102408 (c) S. Y. Shim, D. H.Ryu. Enantioselective Carbonyl 1,2or 1,4-Addition Reactions of Nucleophilic Silyl and Diazo Compounds Catalyzed by the Chiral Oxazaborolidinium 2019. Acc. Chem. Res. 52, 2349. lon. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.9b00279 (d) B. T. Cho. Recent advances in the synthetic applications of the oxazaborolidine-mediated asymmetric reduction. Tetrahedron, 2006. 62. 7621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2006.05.036 (e) B. T. Cho. Boronic Acids: Preparation and Applications in Organic Synthesis; D. G. Hall, Ed.; Wiley- VCH: Weinheim, 2005; Chapter 11, p 411. (f) S. Itsuno. Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysts; E. N. Jacobsen, A. Pfaltz, H. Yamamoto, Eds.; Springer: New York, NY, 1999; Vol. 1, p 289. (g) E. J. Corey, C. J. Helal. Reduction of Carbonyl Compounds with Chiral Oxazaborolidine Catalysts: A New Paradigm for Enantioselective Catalysis and a Powerful New Synthetic Method. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1986. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-3773(19980817)37:15<1986::AID-ANIE1986>3.0.CO;2-Z (g) L. Deloux, M. Srebnik. Asymmetric boron-catalyzed reactions. 1993, Chem. Rev. 93 763. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr00018a007 (h) V. K. Singh. Practical and Useful Methods for the Enantioselective Reduction of Unsymmetrical Ketones. Synthesis 1992, 605. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-1992-26174 (i) S. Wallbaum, J. Martens. Asymmetric syntheses with chiral oxazaborolidines. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1992, 3, 1475. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0957-4166(00)86044-9
- 16. (a) K. Z. Łaczkowski, Z. Czyznikowska, R. Zales'ny, A. Baranowska-Łaczkowska. The B-H-B bridaina interaction in B-substituted oxazaborolidine-borane complexes: a theoretical study. Struct Chem., 2013, 24, 1485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11224-012-0178-9 (b) H.S. Kettouche, A. Djerourou. Insights into the origin of selectivity for [2+2] cycloaddition step reaction involved in the mechanism of enantioselective reduction of ketones with borane catalyzed by a B-methoxy oxazaborolidine catalyst derived from (-)-\beta-pinene: an HMDFT and combined topological ELF, NCI and QTAIM study. Theor. Chem. 2021. 140. 150. Acc. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00214-021-02848-4 (c)Ζ. Lachtar, A. K. Nacereddine, A. Djerourou. Understanding the origin of the enantioselectivity and the mechanism of the asymmetric reduction of ketimine generated from acetophenone with oxazaborolidine catalyst. Struct. Chem. 2020, 31, 253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11224-019-01400-2
- M. Masui, T. Shioiri. A Practical Method for Asymmetric Borane Reduction of Prochiral Ketones Using Chiral Amino Alcohols and Trimethyl Borate. *Synlett* **1997**, 3, 273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-1997-779</u>

Innov. Chem. Mater. Sustain.2024, 1(1), 011-029

- (a) K. M. Reddy, E. Bhimireddy, B. Thirupathi, S.Breitler, S. Yu, E. J. Corey. Cationic chiral fluorinated oxazaborolidines. More potent second- generation catalyst for highly enanatioselective cycloaddition reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 2443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.6b00100</u> (b) B. Thirupathi, S. Breitler, K. M. Reddy, E. J. Corey. Acceleration of Enantioselective Cycloadditions Catalyzed by Second-Generation Chiral Oxazaborolidinium Triflimidates by Biscoordinating Lewis Acids. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 10842. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.6b08018</u>
- J. M. Wahl, M. L. Conner, M. K. Brown. Synthesis of (-)-Hebelophyllene E: An Entry to Geminal Dimethyl-Cyclobutanes by [2+2] Cycloaddition of Alkenes and Allenoates. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2018, 57, 4647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201801110</u>
- 20. A. Moscona. Neuraminidase Inhibitors for Influenza. *New Engl. J. Med.* **2005**, 353, 1363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra050740</u>
- Y. Y. Yeung, S. Hong, E. J. Corey. A Short Enantioselective Pathway for the Synthesis of the Anti-Influenza Neuramidase Inhibitor Oseltamivir from 1,3-Butadiene and Acrylic Acid. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 6310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0616433</u>
- 22. (a) J. Matsuo, T. Kozai, O. Nishikawa, Y. Hattori, H. Ishibashi. Oxazaborolidine-Catalyzed Enantioselective Reduction of a-Methylene Ketones to Allylic Alcohols. J. Chem. 2008. 73 6902. Ora. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo8011013 (b) T. Yıldız. An oxazaborolidine-based catalytic method for the asymmetric synthesis of chiral allylic alcohols. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry, 2015. 26. 497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetasy.2015.03.008
- 23. (a) S. Goodin, M. P. Kane, E. H. Rubin. Epothilones: Mechanism of Action and Biologic Activity. J. Clin. Oncol. 2004, 22, p. 2015. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2004.12.0 (b) D. M. Bollag, P. A. McQueney, J. Zhu, O. Hensens, L. Koupal, J. Liesch, M. Goetz, E. Lazarides, C. M. Woods. Epothilones, a New Class of Microtubule-stabilizing Agents with a Taxol-like Mechanism of Action, Cancer Res. 1995, 55, 2325. (c) K. C. Nicolaou, F. Roschangar, D. Vourloumis. Chemical Biology of Epothilones. Angew. Chem., Ed. 1998. 37. 2014. Int. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-

3773(19980817)37:15<2014::AID-ANIE2014>3.0.CO;2-2 (d) C. R. Harris, S. J. Danishefsky. Complex Target-Oriented Synthesis in the Drug Discovery Process: A Case History in the dEpoB Series. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 8434. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo991006d (e) K. H. Altmann, M. Wartmann, T. O'Reilly. Epothilones and related structures- a new class of microtubule inhibitors with potent in vivo antitumor activity. Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2000, 1470, M79. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-419x(00)00009-3 (f) K. C. Nicolaou, A. Ritzen, K. Namoto. Recent developments in the chemistry, biology and medicine of the epothilonesDedicated to Drs Margaret Harris and Muriel Hall of Bedford College, London, for their dedicated and inspiring teachings and research contributions in celebration of their retirement. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1523. https://doi.org/10.1039/B104949F (g) M. Wartmann, K. H. Altmann. The biology and medicinal chemistry of epothilones. Curr. Med. Chem.: Anti-Cancer Agents**2002**, 2, 123. https://doi.org/10.2174/1568011023354489 (h) Ε. В.

Watkins, A. G. Chittiboyina, M. A. Avery. Recent Developments in the Syntheses of the Epothilones and Related Analogues. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 4071. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.200600149 (i) E. B. Watkins, A. G. Chittiboyina, J.-C. Jung, M. A. Avery. The Epothilones and Related Analogues-A Review of Their Syntheses and Anti-Cancer Activities. Curr. Pharm. Des. 2005. 1615. 11. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612053764742 (j) F. Feyen, F. Cachoux, J. Gertsch, M. Wartmann, K.-H. Altmann. Epothilones as Lead Structures for the Synthesis-Based Discovery of New Chemotypes for Microtubule Stabilization. Acc. Chem. Res. 2008, 41, 21. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar700157x (k) R. J. Kowalski, P. Giannakakou, E. Hamel. Activities of the Microtubulestabilizing Agents Epothilones A and B with Purified Tubulin and in Cells Resistant to Paclitaxel (Taxol®). J. Biol. Chem.1997, 272. 2534. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.4.2534 (I) W. M. Smit, J. Sufliarsky, S. Spanik, M. Wagnerov, S. Kaye, A. M. Oza, M. Gore, K. J. Williams, A. Johri, W. W. T. B. Huinink. J. Clin. Oncol.2005, 23, 16S. (m) S. McMeekin, R. Patel, C. Verschraegan, P. Celano, J. Burke, S. Plaxe, P. Ghatage, M. Giurescu, C. Stredder, Y. Wang. In 33rd Congress of the European Society for Medical Oncology, 2008. (n) C. Sessa, A. Perotti, A. Llado, S. Cresta, G. Capri, M. Voi, S. Marsoni, I. Corradino, L. Gianni. Ann. Oncol. 2007, 18, 1548. (o) A. Stopeck, S. Moulder, S. Jones, J. Cohen, M. McDowell, G. Cropp, Z. Zhong, S. Wells, A. Hannah, H. Burris. J. Clin. Oncol. 2007, 25, 2571. (p) S. Bhushan, C. M. Walko, Ann. Pharmacother. 2008, 42, 1252.

- E. A. Reiff, S. K. Nair, J. T. Henri, J. F. Greiner, B. S. Reddy, R. Chakrasali, S. A. David, T. L. Chiu, E. A. Amin, R. H. Himes, D. G. V. Velde, G. I. Georg. Total Synthesis and Evaluation of C26-Hydroxyepothilone D Derivatives for Photoaffinity Labeling of β-Tubulin. *J. Org. Chem.***2010**, *75*, 86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jo901752v</u>
- 25. (a) A. S. Pilcher, P. DeShong. Improved protocols for the selective deprotection of trialkylsilyl ethers using fluorosilicic acid. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 5130. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00071a023 (b) D. Schinzer, A. Bauer, O. M. Bohm, A. Limberg, M. Cordes, Total Synthesis of (-)-Epothilone A. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 2483. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-3765(19990903)5:9<2483::AID-CHEM2483>3.0.CO;2-N (c) K. C. Nicolaou, S. Ninkovic, F. Sarabia, D. Vourloumis, Y. He, H. Vallberg, M. R. V. Finlay, Z. Yang. Total Syntheses of Epothilones A and B via a Macrolactonization-Based Strategy. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7974. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja971110h (d) K. C. Nicolaou, D. Hepworth, N. P. King, M. R. V. Finlay, R. Scarpelli, M. M. A. Pereira, B. Bollbuck, A. Bigot, B. Werschkun, N. Winssinger. Total Synthesis of 16-Desmethylepothilone B, Epothilone B10, Epothilone F, and Related Side Chain Modified Epothilone B Analogues. Chem. Eur. 2000, 2783. J. 6 https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-

3765(20000804)6:15<2783::AID-CHEM2783>3.0.CO;2-

<u>B</u> (e) K. C. Nicolaou, D. Hepworth, M. R. V. Finlay, N. Paul King, B. Werschkun, A. Bigot. Synthesis of 16desmethylepothilone B: improved methodology for the rapid, highly selective and convergent construction of epothilone B and analogues. *Chem. Commun.* **1999**, 519.

Innov. Chem. Mater. Sustain. 2024, 1(1), 011-029 https://doi.org/10.1039/A809954E (f) J. P. Genet, V. Ratovelomanana-Vidal, M. C. Cano de Andrade, X. Pfister, P. Guerreiro, J. Y. Lenoir. Practical asymmetric hydrogenation of β -keto esters at atmospheric pressure using chiral Ru (II) catalysts. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 4801. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-4039(95)00873-B (g) D. F. Taber, L. J. Silverberg. Enantioselective reduction of β -keto esters. Tetrahedron Lett. **1991**, 32, 4227. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)92134-8 (h) L. A. Paquette, R. A. Jr. Galemmo, J. C. Caille, R. S. Valpey. Synthetic studies relating to the structure of senoxydene. A sequential annulation approach to angular triquinane construction capable of varied tetramethyl substitution patterns. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 686. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00355a019 (i) J. Mulzer, A. Mantoulidis, E. Oehler. Total Syntheses of Epothilones B D. Org. Chem.2000, 65, and J. 7456. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo0007480 (j) K. C. Nicolaou, M. R. V. Finlay, S. Ninkovic, F. Sarabia. Total synthesis of 26hydroxy-epothilone B and related analogs via a macrolactonization based strategy. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 7127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4020(98)00352-

- T. A. Rano, G. H. Kuo. Improved Asymmetric Synthesis of 3,4-Dihydro-2-[3-(1,1,2,2-tetrafluoroethoxy)phenyl]-5-[3-(trifluoromethoxy)phenyl]-α-(trifluoromethyl)-1(2H)quinolineethanol, a Potent Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein Inhibitor. *Org. Lett.* **2009**, *11*, 2812 <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ol900639j</u> and the references cited therein.
- 27. (a) E. Canales, E. J. Corey. Highly Enantioselective [4 + 2] Cycloaddition Reactions Catalyzed by a Chiral N-Methyl-oxazaborolidinium Cation. *Org. Lett.* 2008, 10, 3271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ol8011502</u> (b) Q.-Y. Hu, G. Zhou, E. J. Corey, Application of Chiral Cationic Catalysts to Several Classical Syntheses of Racemic Natural Products Transforms Them into Highly Enantioselective Pathways. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2004, *126*, 13708 <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ja046154m</u> and the references cited therein.
- S. H. von Reuss, W. A. König. Corsifurans A–C, 2arylbenzofurans of presumed stilbenoid origin from Corsinia coriandrina (Hepaticae). *Phytochemistry* 2004, 65, 3113.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2004.10.002

- B. D. Gates, P. Dalidowicz, A. Tebben, S. Wang, J. S. Sweton. Mechanistic aspects and synthetic applications of the electrochemical and iodobenzene bistrifluoroacetate oxidative 1,3-cycloadditions of phenols and electron-rich styrene derivatives. *J. Org. Chem.* **1992**, *57*, 2135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00033a040</u>
- 30. (a) M. P. Krzemiński. 13.7. Asymmetric Reduction of Acetophenone with Borane Catalyzed by B -Methoxyoxazaborolidine 2016 803 https://doi.org/10.1039/9781849739634-00803 (b) H. Adams, N. J. Gilmore, S. Jones, M. P. Muldowney, S. H. von Reuss, R. Vemula. Asymmetric Synthesis of Corsifuran A by an Enantioselective Oxazaborolidine Reduction. Org. Lett. 2008. 10. 1457 https://doi.org/10.1021/ol800239q (c) Y. Kawanami, K. Hoshino, W. Tsunoi. Enantioselective reduction of trifluoromethyl ketones using an oxazaborolidine catalyst generated in situ from a chiral lactam alcohol. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **2011**, 22, 1464.

<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetasy.2011.08.006</u> (d) Y. Harauchi, C. Takakura, T. Furumoto, R.C. Yanagita, Y. Kawanami. Effect of BF₃ on the enantioselective reduction of trifluoromethyl ketones using a chiral lactam alcohol with borane. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry*, **2015**, *26*, 333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetasy.2015.02.011

- 31. (a) E. J. Corey, X. Cheng, K. A. Cimprich, S. Sarshar. Remarkably effective and simple syntheses of enantiomerically pure secondary carbinols from achiral ketones. Tetrahedron Lett. **1991**, 32. 6835. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-4039(91)80419-7 (b) E. J.; Corey, J. O. Link, R. K. Bakshi. A mechanistic and structural analysis of the basis for high enantioselectivity oxazaborolidine-catalyzed the reduction in of trihalomethyl ketones by catecholborane. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 7107. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)60848-1 (c) V. Stepanenko, M. D. Jesus, W. Correa, I. Guzman, C. Vazquez, W. Cruz, M. Ortiz-Marciales, C. L. Barnes. Enantioselective reduction of prochiral ketones using spiroborate esters as catalysts. 5799. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007. 48 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2007.06.086 (d) Τ. Korenaga, K. Nomura, K. Onoue, T. Sakai. Rational electronic tuning of CBS catalyst for hiahlv enantioselective boranereduction of trifluoroacetophenone. Chem. Commun. 2010, 46, 8624. https://doi.org/10.1039/C0CC03706K
- C. H. V. A. Sasikala, P. R. Padi, V. Sunkara, P. Ramayya, P. K. Dubey, V. B. R. Uppala, C. Praveen. An Improved and Scalable Process for the Synthesis of Ezetimibe: An Antihypercholesterolemia Drug. *Org. Process Res. Dev.* 2009, *13*, 907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/op900039z</u>
- S. Tamura, S. Doke, N. Murakami. Total synthesis of peumusolide A, NES non-antagonistic inhibitor for nuclear export of MEK. *Tetrahedron* 2010, 66, 8476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2010.08.025</u>
- S. Asano, T. Nakamura, M. Adachi, M. Yoshida, M. Yanagida, E. Nishida. CRM1 is responsible for intracellular transport mediated by the nuclear export signal. *Nature* **1997**, *390*, 308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/36894</u>
- S. Tamura, Y. Hattori, M. Kaneko, N. Shimizu, S. Tanimura, M. Khono, N. Murakami. Peumusolide A, unprecedented NES non-antagonistic inhibitor for nuclear export of MEK. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2010**, *51*, 1678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2010.01.068
- 36. (a) C.-Y. Chen, C.-H. Chen, Y.-C. Lo, B.-N. Wu, H.-M. Wang, W.-L. Lo, C.-M. Yen, R.-J. Lin. Anticancer Activity of Isoobtusilactone A from Cinnamomum kotoense: Involvement of Apoptosis, Cell-Cycle Dysregulation, Mitochondria Regulation, and Reactive Oxygen Species. 2008. J. Nat. Prod. 71, 933. https://doi.org/10.1021/np070620e (b) P.-L. Kuo, C.-Y. Chen, T.-F. Tzeng, C.-C. Lin, Y.-L. Hsu. Involvement of reactive oxygen species/c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase pathway in kotomolide A induces apoptosis in human breast cancer cells. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 2008, 229, 215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2008.01.034
- S. Hong, E. J. Corey. Enantioselective Syntheses of Georgyone, Arborone, and Structural Relatives. Relevance to the Molecular-Level Understanding of Olfaction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 1346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ja057483x</u>

Innov. Chem. Mater. Sustain.2024, 1(1), 011-029

- (a) Y. Shimoda, H. Yamamoto. New oxazaborolidine catalyst for the Diels-Alder Reaction, *Synthesis***2017**, *49*, 175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0036-1588082</u> (b) S. –L. Zhang, Y. Lu, Y.-H. Li, K.-Y. Wang, J. -H. Chen, Z. Yang. Catalytic and Enantioselective Diels–Alder Reactions of (E)-4-Oxopent-2-enoates. *Org. Lett.* **2017**, *19*, 3986. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.7b01692</u>
- 39. B. T. Cho. Aldrichimica Acta 2002, 35, 3.
- Xiao, Z. Z. Wong, Y. P. Lu, T. P. Loha. Hexahydropyrrolo[2,3-b]indoles: A New Class of Structurally Rigid Tricyclic Skeleton for Oxazaborolidine-Catalyzed Asymmetric Borane Reduction. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2010, 352, 1107. https://doi.org/10.1002/adsc.200900908
- J. H. Yune, F. Quignard, K. Molvinger. Enantioselectivity Induced by Oxazaborolidine Supported on Mesoporous Silica or by Its Analog in Homogeneous Phase. *Molecules* 2010, 15, 3643. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules15053643</u> and cited therein.
- H. S. Kettouche, A. H. Djerourou. A New Method for the Preparation of Oxazaborolidine Catalyst In Situ Using 1,2-Aminoalcohol, Sodium Borohydride, and Diiodomethane for the Asymmetric Reduction of Prochiral Ketones and N-Substituted Imines. *The Open Catalysis Journal*, **2009**, 2, 96. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1876214X00902010096</u>
- D. Liu, S. Hong, E. J. Corey. Enantioselective synthesis of bridged-or fused-ring bicyclic ketones by a catalytic asymmetric Michael addition pathway. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2006, *128*, 8160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ja063332y</u>
- 44. R. K. Jr. Boeckman, J. E. Pero, D. J. Boehmler. Toward the Development of a General Chiral Auxiliary. Enantioselective Alkylation and a New Catalytic Asymmetric Addition of Silyloxyfurans: Application to a Total Synthesis of (-)-Rasfonin. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 11032. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ja063532%2B</u>
- 45. (a) I. U. Kutama, S. Jones. Enantioselective Desymmetrization of Glutarimides Catalyzed by Oxazaborolidines Derived from cis-1-Amino-indan-2-ol. J. Chem. 2015. 80, Org. 1468. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.joc.5b02177 (b) B. J. Marsh, H. Adams, M. D. Barker, I. U. Kutama, S. Jones. Enantioselective catalytic desymmetrization of maleimides by temporary removal of an internal mirror plane and stereoablative over-reduction: synthesis of (R)pyrrolam Org. Lett. 2014. 16, Α. 3780. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol5016702
- E. H. E. Farrar, M. N. Grayson. Noncovalent Interactions in the Oxazaborolidine-Catalyzed Enantioselective Mukaiyama Aldol. J. Org. Chem. 2022, 87, 15, 10054. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.joc.2c01039</u>
- L. J. Drummond, A. Sutherland. Asymmetric synthesis of allylic secondary alcohols: a new general approach for the preparation of *α*-amino acids. *Tetrahedron* **2010**, *66*, 5349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2010.05.066</u>
- T. F. Yang, C. H. Shen, C. T. Hsu, L. H. Chen, C. H. Chuang. Selective reaction of camphor-derived exoformyl [2.2.1]bicyclic carbinol with alkyl primary amines: application to the preparation of new chiral catalysts for asymmetric reduction of aryl ketones. *Tetrahedron* 2010, 66, 8734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2010.09.008</u>
- 49. (a) M. P. Krzeminski, M. Zaidlewicz. Asymmetric reduction of ketoxime derivatives and N-alkylketimines

- with borane-oxazaborolidine adducts. Tetrahedron: 2003. Asymmetry 14, 1463. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0957-4166(03)00314-8 (b) M. Zaidlewicz, A. Tafelska-Kaczmarek, A. Prewysz-Kwinto. Enantioselective reduction of benzofuryl halomethyl ketones: asymmetric synthesis of (R)-bufuralol. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 3205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetasy.2005.08.012 (c) M. J. Bosiak, M. P. Krzeminski, P. Jaisankar, M. Zaidlewicz. Asymmetric synthesis of N-1-(heteroaryl)ethyl-Nhydroxyureas. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2008, 19, 956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetasy.2008.03.026 (d) K. Z. Łączkowski, M. M. Pakulski, M. P. Krzemiński, P. Jaisankar, M. Zaidlewicz. Asymmetric synthesis of Nsubstituted N-hydroxyureas. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2008. 19. 788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetasy.2008.03.008 (e) M. M. Pakulski, S. K. Mahato, M. J. Bosiak, M. P. Krzeminski, M. Zaidlewicz. Enantioselective reduction of ketoxime ethers with borane-oxazaborolidines and synthesis of the key intermediate leading to (S)-rivastigmine. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2012. 23 716 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetasy.2012.05.008
- J. Kaldun, A. Krimalowski, M. Breuning. Enantioselective borane reduction of ketones catalysed by triclinic 1,3,2oxazaborolidines. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2016, 57, 2492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2016.04.091</u>
- 51. H. S. Kettouche. A DFT study on the reaction mechanism of enantioselective reduction of ketones with borane catalyzed by a B-methoxy-oxazaborolidine catalyst derived from (-)-β-pinene. *J Mol. Model.* **2020**, 26:27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00894-019-4276-0</u>
- X. Liang, M. Yoo, T. Schempp, S. Maejima, M. J. Krische. Ruthenium-Catalyzed Butadiene-Mediated Crotylation and Oxazaborolidine-Catalyzed Vinylogous Mukaiyama Aldol Reaction for The Synthesis of C1–C19 and C23– C35 of Neaumycin B. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2022, *61*, e20221478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202214786</u>
- 53. W. Disadee, S. Ruchirawat. Oxazaborolidine-catalyzed reductive parallel kinetic resolution of ketones from βnitro-azabicycles for the synthesis of chiral hypoestestatins 1, 2. Org. Biomol. Chem., 2021, 19, 8794. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/D10B01608C</u>
- 54. A. Pinaka, D. Dimotikali, B. Chankvetadze, K. Papadopoulos, G. C. Vougioukalakis. Catalytic Asymmetric Reduction of Prochiral Ketones with Chiral β-Amino Alcohol N-Boranes and the Corresponding Tris(oxazaborolidine)borazines. *Synlett* **2013**, *24*, 2401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0033-1339943</u>
- 55. M. V. Reddy, P. Shyamala, A. K. Sharma. An efficient, concise, and scalable synthesis of Izenamide A and B via asymmetric reduction of γ -amino β -keto ester using 2-methyl-CBS-oxazaborolidine catalysts. *Results in Chemistry*, **2023**, 5, 100756. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rechem.2022.100756
- S. Kiyooka, M. A. Hema. A chiral oxazaborolidinonepromoted aldol reaction with a silyl ketene acetal from ethyl 1,3-dithiolane-2-carboxylate. Synthesis of acetate aldols in high enantiomeric purity. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry*, **1996**, *7*, 2181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0957-4166(96)00265-0</u>
- 57. K. Komura, S. Itsuno. Asymmetric Aldol Polymerization of Bis(trimethylsilylketene thioacetal) and Dialdehyde.

 Innov. Chem. Mater. Sustain.2024, 1(1), 011-029

 Chem.
 Lett.
 2001,
 730.

 https://doi.org/10.1246/cl.2001.730

- T. Harada, T. Egusa, Y. Igarashi, M. Kinugasa, A. Oku. Inter- and Intramolecular Differentiation of Enantiotopic Dioxane Acetals through Oxazaborolidinone-Mediated Enantioselective Ring-Cleavage Reaction: Kinetic Resolution of Racemic 1,3-Alkanediols and Asymmetric Desymmetrization of Meso-1,3-polyols. *J. Org. Chem.* 2002, *67*, 7080. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jo025944g</u>
- X. Wang, S. Adachi, H. Iwai, H. Takatsuki, K. Fujita, M. Kubo, A. Oku, T. Harada. Enantioselective Lewis Acid-Catalyzed Mukaiyama–Michael Reactions of Acyclic Enones. Catalysis by allo-Threonine-Derived Oxazaborolidinones. *J. Org. Chem.* 2003, *68*, 10046. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo035379x
- R. S. Singh, T. Harada. Enantioselective Diels–Alder Reaction of Acyclic Enones Catalyzed byallo-Threonine-Derived Chiral Oxazaborolidinone. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2005, 3433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.200500356</u>
- S. Simsek, M. Horzella, M. Kalesse. Oxazaborolidinone-Promoted Vinylogous Mukaiyama Aldol Reactions. *Org. Lett.* 2007, 9, 5637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ol702640w</u>
- 62. (a) S. Adachi, T. Harada. Asymmetric Mukaiyama Aldol Reaction of Nonactivated Ketones Catalyzed by allo-Threonine-Derived Oxazaborolidinone. *Org. Lett.* **2008**, *10*, 4999. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ol802087u</u> (b) S. Adachi, F. Tanaka, K. Watanabe, T. Harada. Oxazaborolidinone-Catalyzed Enantioselective Friedel-Crafts Alkylation of Furans and Indoles with α,β-Unsaturated Ketones. *Org. Lett.* **2009**, *11*, 5206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ol9021436</u>
- 63. K. Micoine, A. Fürstner. Concise Total Synthesis of the Potent Translation and Cell Migration Inhibitor Lactimidomycin. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132*, 14064. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ja107141p</u>
- 64. U. Costantino, F. Fringuelli, M. Nocchetti, O. Piermatti. Chiral borane of layered α-Zirconium-N-(m-solfophenyl)-l-Valine-Phosphonate Methanphosphonate promoters for the asymmetric Mukaiyama Aldol reaction. *Appl. Catal.*, *A.* **2007**, 326, 100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2007.04.007</u>
- 65. M. T. Gieseler, M. Kalesse. Asymmetric Vinylogous Mukaiyama Aldol Reaction of Aldehyde-Derived Dienolates. *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13*, 2430. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol2006727
- 66. (a) A. Kena Diba, C. Noll, M. Richter, M. T. Gieseler, M. Kalesse. Intramolecular Stereoselective Protonation of Aldehyde-Derived Enolates. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 2010, *49*, 8367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201004619</u>
 (b) W. Kohl, B. Witte, B. Kunze, V. Wray, D. Schomburg, H. Reichenbach, G. Höfle. Antibiotika aus Gleitenden Bakterien, XXVII. Angiolam A –ein neues Antibiotikum aus Angiococcus disciformis (Myxobacterales). *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* 1985, 2088. https://doi.org/10.1002/jlac.198519851016
- A. Eggert, C. Etling, L. Millbrodt, G. Schulz, M. Kalesse. Oxazaborolidinone-Mediated Asymmetric Bisvinylogous Mukaiyama Aldol Reaction. *Org. Lett.* 2021, 23, 22, 8722.<u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.1c03165</u>
- Y. Zhang, Y. Liu, Y. Du. First Total Synthesis of 27-Deoxylyngbyabellin A. Synthesis2021, 53, 2874. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1478-9088</u>